# FILED

OCT 20 2014

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

YADA

TRACIE K. LINDEMAN
CLERK OF SUBREME COURT
DEPUTY CLERK
SUPREME COURT NO. 65335

Ernest A. Becker, IV, INDIVIDUALLY, ERNEST A. BECKER, IV and KATHLEEN BECKER AS TRUSTEES OF THE ERNEST A. BECKER IV and KATHLEEN C. BECKER FAMILY TRUST; EB FAMILY HOLDINGS, LLC; KIMBERLY RIGGS; SALLIE BECKER; BRIAN BECKER; and WILLIAM A. LEONARD, TRUSTEE,

On Certification from United States Bankruptcy Court for the

District of Nevada

Case No. BK-S-13-14932-BTB

Appellants,

VS.

ERNEST A. BECKER, V,

Respondent.

# ADDENDUM TO APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

# **Attorneys for Appellants**

James H. Walton, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 449
NITZ, WALTON & HEATON, LTD.
601 S. Tenth Street, Suite 201
Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 474-4004
Attorney for Appellants Ernest A. Becker, IV, individually, Ernest A. Becker, IV and Kathleen Becker as Trustees of the Ernest A. Becker and Kathleen C. Becker Trust; EB Family Holdings, LLC; Kimberly Riggs; Sallie Becker and Brian Becker

Lenard E. Schwartzer, Esq.,
NV Bar No. 0399
Jason A. Imes, Esq.
NV Bar No. 7030
SCHWARTZER & MCPHERSON LAW FIRM
2830 S. Jones Dlvd, Suite 1

ttiprney for Appellant William A. Leonard, Tr

# Table of Contents to the Addendum

Document	Bates Number	
11 USC § 522	Addendum 000001 - 000002	<del></del>
11 USC § 544	Addendum 000003	
NCL Section 5028.27	Addendum 000004 - 000005	
NRS 21.090	Addendum 000006 - 000008	
NRS 78.746	Addendum 000009	: .
NRS 78.747	Addendum 000010	1 14
NRS 86.401	Addendum 000011	···
NRS 87.280	Addendum 000012	
NRS 87.4342	Addendum 000013	
NRS 87A.480	Addendum 000014	
NRS 88.535	Addendum 000015	
Statutes of Nevada, Chapter 480, § 43.5 (2007)	Addendum 000016	
Statutes of Nevada, Chapter 480, § 171.2 – 171.8 (2007)	Addendum 000017 - 000021	
Statutes of Nevada, Chapter 488, § 6.5 (2009)	Addendum 000022	
Statutes of Nevada, Chapter 455, § 52 (2011)	Addendum 000023	
Ohio Revised Code § 1776.50	Addendum 000024 - 000025	
Ohio Revised Code § 2329.66	Addendum 000026 - 000030	
Uniform Partnership Act § 28(3) (1914)	Addendum 000031 - 000032	
Uniform Partnership Act §504(d) (1997)	Addendum 000033 - 000035	
Uniform Limited Partnership Act § 703 (1976)	Addendum 000036 - 000037	
Uniform Limited Partnership Act §703(d) (2001),	Addendum 000038 - 000041	
Nev. S.B. 453 (Second Reprint) (April 26, 2005)	Addendum 000042 - 000053	· very in the second
Nev. Assembly Jud. Comm., 73 <sup>rd</sup> Session (May 5, 2005) (Minutes re: S.B. 453)	Addendum 000054 - 000071	

	<del>and the state of </del>
Derek G. Rowley, Charging Order	Addendum 000072 - 000083
Protection for Nevada Corporations	
(Nev. Resident Agent Assoc. 2005)	1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 100
(Exh. F to Minutes of the Assembly Jud.	
Comm. on May 5, 2005 re: S.B. 453)	
Nev. S.B. 317 (First Reprint) (April 23,	Addendum 000084 - Addendum
2007)	000098
Nev. S.B. 242 (Second Reprint) (May	Addendum 000099 - Addendum
25, 2007)	000125
Nev. Sen. Jud. Comm., 74 <sup>th</sup> Session	Addendum 000126 - Addendum
(April 12, 2007)(Minutes re: S.B. 317)	000129
Nev. Assembly Jud. Comm., 74th Session	Addendum 000130 - Addendum
(May 7, 2007) (Minutes re: S.B. 242 and	000135
S.B. 317)	

# **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

I certify that on the 15th day of October, 2014, I served a copy of this ADDENDUM TO APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF by mailing it by first class mail with sufficient postage prepaid to the following address(es):

William A. Leonard, Trustee 6625 S. Valley View # 224 Las Vegas, NV 89118

Douglas Payne, Esq. Fabian & Clendenin, P.C. 215 South State Street, Suite 1200 Salt Lake City, Utah 84111-2323

Honorable Bruce T. Beesley U. S. Bankruptcy Judge 300 Booth St., 5<sup>th</sup> Floor Reno, NV 89509

Mark Segal, Esq. Segal & McMahan 720 S. 4th Street, # 301 Las Vegas, NV 89101

Monica T. Centeno, Esq. The Law Office of Monica T. Centeno 285 E. Warm Springs Road, # 105 Las Vegas, Nevada 89119

Lenard Schwartzer, Trustee 2850 S Jones Blvd, Las Vegas, NV 89146

/s/ Maureen E. Marella
Maureen E. Marella
An Employee of Nitz, Walton & Heaton, Ltd.



UNITED STATES CODE SERVICE
Copyright O 2014 Mothew Bender & Company, Inc.
a member of the LexisNexis Group (TM)
All rights reserved.

\*\*\* Correct through PL 113-163, approved \$/\$/14 \*\*\*

TITLE 11. BANKRUPTCY
CHAPTER 5. CREDITORS, THE DEBTOR, AND THE ESTATE
SUBCHAPTER IL DEBTORS DUTIES AND BENEFITS

Go to the United States Code Service Archive Directory

11 USCS § 522

THE CASE NOTES SEGMENT OF THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN SPLIT INTO 2 DOCUMENTS. THIS IS PART-1.
USE THE BROWSE FEATURE TO REVIEW THE OTHER PART(S).

§ 522. Exemptions

(a) In this section-

(1) "dependent" includes spouse, whether or not actually dependent; and

- (2) "value" means fair market value as of the date of the filing of the petition or, with respect to property that becomes property of the estate after such date, as of the date such property becomes property of the estate.
- (b) (1) Notwithstanding section 541 of this title [11 USCS § 541], an individual debtor may exempt from property of the estate the property listed in either paragraph (2) or, in the alternative, paragraph (3) of this subsection. In joint cases filed under section 302 of this title [11 USCS § 302] and individual cases filed under section 301 or 303 of this title [11 USCS § 301 or 303] by or against debtors who are husband and wife, and whose estates are ordered to be jointly administered under Rule 1015(b) of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure, one debtor may not elect to exempt property listed in paragraph (2) and the other debtor elect to exempt property listed in paragraph (3) of this subsection. If the parties cannot agree on the alternative to be elected, they shall be deemed to elect paragraph (2), where such election is permitted under the law of the jurisdiction where the case is filed.
- (2) Property listed in this paragraph is property that is specified under subsection (d), unless the State law that is applicable to the debtor under paragraph (3)(A) specifically does not so authorize.

(3) Property listed in this paragraph is-

- (A) subject to subsections (o) and (p), any property that is exempt under Federal law, other than subsection (d) of this section, or State or local law that is applicable on the date of the filing of the petition to the place in which the debtor's domicile has been located for the 730 days immediately preceding the date of the filing of the petition or if the debtor's domicile has not been located in a single State for such 730-day period, the place in which the debtor's domicile was located for 180 days immediately preceding the 730-day period or for a longer portion of such 180-day period than in any other place:
- (B) any interest in property in which the debtor had, immediately before the commencement of the case, an interest as a tenant by the entirety or joint tenant to the extent that such interest as a tenant by the entirety or joint tenant is exempt from process under applicable nonbankruptcy law; and

(C) reforment finals to the extent that those funds are in a fond or account that its exempt from traction under section 401, 403, 405A, 414, 457, or 501(a) of the laternal Researce Code of 1926 [26 USCS § 401, 403, 405, 405A, 414, 457, or 501(a)].

If the effect of the demicitary requirement under subparagraph (A) is to render the debtor ineligible for any exemption, the debtor may elect to examp property that is specified under subsection (d).

(4) For purposes of paragraph (3)(C) and subsection (d)(12), the following shall apply:

- (A) If the activement funds are in a retirement fund that has received a favorable determination under section 7805 of the laternal Revenue Code of 1986 [26 USCS § 7805], and that determination is in effect as of the date of the filing of the petition in a case under this title, those funds shall be presumed to be exampt from the estate.
- (B) If the retinement finals are in a retinement final that has not received a favorable determination under such section 7805 [26 USCS § 7805], those finals are exempt from the estate if the debtor demonstrates that—
  - (i) no prior determination to the contrary has been made by a court or the Internal Revenue Service; and
- (ii) (1) the retirement fund is in substantial compliance with the applicable requirements of the Internal Revouse Code of 1986 [26 USCS §§ I et seq.]; or
- (II) the retirement fund fails to be in substantial compliance with the applicable requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 [26 USCS §§ 1 et seq.] and the debtor is not materially responsible for that failure.
- (C) A direct transfer of retirement funds from 1 fund or account that is excesspt from tenation under section 401, 403, 408, 408A, 414, 457, or 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 [26 USCS § 401, 403, 408, 408A, 414, 457, or 501(a)], under section 401(a)(31) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 [26 USCS § 401(a)(31)], or otherwise, shall not cease to qualify for exemption under paragraph (3)(C) or subsection (d)(12) by reason of such direct transfer.
- (D) (i) Any distribution that qualifies as an eligible rollover distribution within the meaning of section 402(c) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 [26 USCS § 402(c)] or that is described in clause (ii) shall not cease to qualify for exemption under paragraph (3)(C) or subsection (d)(12) by reason of such distribution.
  - (ii) A distribution described in this clause is an amount that-
- (I) has been distributed from a fund or account that is exempt from taxation under section 401, 403, 408, 408A, 414, 457, or 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 [26 USCS § 401, 403, 408, 408A, 414, 457, or 501(a)]; and
- (II) to the extent allowed by law, is deposited in such a fund or account not later than 60 days after the distribution of such amount.
- (c) Unless the case is dismissed, property exempted under this section is not liable during or after the case for any debt of the debtor that arose, or that is determined under section 502 of this title [11 USCS § 502] as if such debt had arisen, before the commencement of the case, except—
- (1) a debt of a kind specified in paragraph (1) or (5) of section 523(a) [11 USCS § 523(a)] (in which case, notwith-standing any provision of applicable nonhankruptcy law to the contrary, such property shall be liable for a debt of a kind specified in such paragraph);
  - (2) a debt secured by a lien that is-
- (A) (i) not avoided under subsection (f) or (g) of this section or under section 544, 545, 547, 548, 549, or 724(a) of this title [11 USCS § 544, 545, 547, 548, 549, or 724(a)]; and
  - (ii) not void under section 506(d) of this title [11 USCS § 506(d)]; or
  - (B) a tax lien, notice of which is properly filed;
- (3) a debt of a kind specified in section 523(a)(4) or 523(a)(6) of this title [11 USCS § 523(a)(4) or 523(a)(6)] owed by an institution-affiliated party of an insured depository institution to a Federal depository institutions regulatory agency acting in its capacity as conservator, receiver, or liquidating agent for such institution; or
- (4) a debt in connection with fraud in the obtaining or providing of any scholarship, grant, loan, tuition, discount, award, or other financial assistance for purposes of financing an education at an institution of higher education (as that term is defined in section 101 of the Higher Education Act of 1965 (20 U.S.C. 1001)).
- (d) The following property may be exempted under subsection (b)(2) of this section:
- (1) The debtor's aggregate interest, not to exceed \$ 22,975 in value, in real property or personal property that the debtor or a dependent of the debtor uses as a residence, in a cooperative that owns property that the debtor or a dependent of the debtor uses as a residence, or in a burial plot for the debtor or a dependent of the debtor.
  - (2) The debtor's interest, not to exceed \$ 3,675 in value, in one motor vehicle.



# UNITIED STATES CODE SERVICE Copyright © 2014 Matthew Bender & Company, Inc. a member of the LexisNexis Group (TM) All rights reserved.

\*\*\* Contest family PL 113-163, approved 8/8/14 \*\*\*

# TITLE 11. BANKRUPTCY CHAPTER 5. CREDITORS, THE DEBTOR, AND THE ESTATE SUBCHAPTER III. THE ESTATE

Go to the United States Code Service Archive Directory

#### 11 USCS § 544

§ 544. Trustee as lien creditor and as successor to certain creditors and parchasers

- (a) The trustee shall have, as of the commencement of the case, and without regard to any knowledge of the trustee or of any creditor, the rights and powers of, or may avoid any transfer of property of the debtor or any obligation incurred by the debtor that is voidable by—
- (1) a creditor that extends credit to the debtor at the time of the commencement of the case, and that obtains, at such time and with respect to such credit, a judicial lian on all property on which a creditor on a simple contract could have obtained such a judicial lien, whether or not such a creditor exists;
- (2) a creditor that extends credit to the debtor at the time of the commencement of the case, and obtains, at such time and with respect to such credit, an execution against the debtor that is returned unsatisfied at such time, whether or not such a creditor exists; or
- (3) a bona fide purchaser of real property, other than fixtures, from the debtor, against whom applicable law permits such transfer to be perfected, that obtains the status of a bona fide purchaser and has perfected such transfer at the time of the commencement of the case, whether or not such a purchaser exists.
- (b) (1) Except as provided in paragraph (2), the trustee may avoid any transfer of an interest of the debtor in property or any obligation incurred by the debtor that is voidable under applicable law by a creditor holding an unsecured claim that is allowable under section 502 of this title [11 USCS § 502] or that is not allowable only under section 502(e) of this title [11 USCS § 502(e)].
- (2) Paragraph (1) shall not apply to a transfer of a charitable contribution (as that term is defined in section 548(d)(3) [11 USCS § 548(d)(3)]) that is not covered under section 548(a)(1)(B) [11 USCS § 548(a)(1)(B)], by reason of section 548(a)(2) [11 USCS § 548(a)(2)]. Any claim by any person to recover a transferred contribution described in the preceding sentence under Federal or State law in a Federal or State court shall be preempted by the commencement of the case.

#### HISTORY:

(Nov. 6, 1978, P.L. 95-598, Title I, § 101, 92 Stat. 2596; July 10, 1984, P.L. 98-353, Title III, Subtitle H, § 459, 98 Stat. 377; June 19, 1998, P.L. 105-183, § 3(b), 112 Stat. 518.)

HISTORY; ANCILLARY LAWS AND DIRECTIVES

# NEVADA COMPILED LAWS

# SUPPLEMENT

1931-1941

CONTAINING ALL STATUTES OF A GENERAL NATURE ENACTED BY THE
LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA AT THE SESSIONS OF
1931 TO 1941, INCLUSIVE, CLASSIFIED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
NEVADA COMPILED LAWS, 1929, TOGETHER WITH AMEOTATIONS
FROM THE DECISIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA,
AND OF THE COURTS OF THE UNITED STATES, AND
A SUPPLEMENTAL DIGEST. ANNOTATIONS AND
DIGEST CLOSE WITH CASES REPORTED
IN 60 NEV., 117 P. 2d, 85 L. ED.,
122 F. 2d, 38 F. SUPP.

VOLUME I SECTIONS 4 TO 5639.01

SAN FRANCISCO
BENDER-MOSS COMPANY
LAW PUBLISHERS AND BOOKSELLERS
1942

of them, or the representatives of a deceased partner, cannot claim any right under the homestead or exemption laws.

(d) On the death of a partner his right in specific partnership property vests in the surviving partner or partners, except where the deceased was the last surviving partner, when his right in such property vests in his legal representative. Such surviving partner or partners, or the legal representative of the last surviving partner, has no right to possess the partnership property for any but a partnership purpose.

(c) A partner's right in specific partnership property is not subject to dower, curtesy, or allowances to widows, heirs or next of kin.

§ 5023.25. PARTNER'S INTEREST. § 26. Nature of Partner's Interest in the Partnership. A partner's interest in the partnership is his share of the profits and surplus, and the same is personal property.

§ 5028.26. ASSIGNMENT OF PARTHER'S INTEREST. § 27. Assignment of Partner's Interest. (1) A conveyance by a partner of his interest in the partnership does not of itself dissolve the partnership, nor, as against the other partners in the absence of agreement, entitle the assignee, during the continuance of the partnership, to interfere in the management or administration of the partnership business or affairs, or to require any information or account of partnership transactions, or to inspect the partnership books; but it merely entitles the assignee to receive in accordance with his contract the profits to which the assigning partner would otherwise be entitled.

(2) In case of a dissolution of the partnership, the assignee is entitled to receive his assignor's interest and may require an account from the date only of the last account agreed to by all the partners.

§ 5028.27. PARTNER'S INTEREST SUBJECT TO CHARGING ORDER. § 28. Partner's Interest Subject to Charging Order. (1) On due application to a competent court by any judgment creditor of a partner, the court which entered the judgment, order, or decree, or any other court, may charge the interest of the debtor partner with payment of the unsatisfied amount of such judgment debt with interest thereon; and may then or later appoint a receiver of his share of the profits, and of any other money due or to fall due to him in respect of the partnership, and make all other orders, directions, accounts and inquiries which the debtor partner might have made, or which the circumstances of the case may require.

- (2) The interest charged may be redeemed at any time before foreclosure, or in case of a sale being directed by the court may be purchased without thereby causing a dissolution
  - (a) With separate property, by any one or more of the partners, or,
- (b) With partnership property, by any one or more of the partners with the consent of all the partners whose interests are not so charged or sold.
- (3) Nothing in this act shall be held to deprive a partner of his right, if any, under the exemption laws, as regards his interest in the partnership.

#### NRS: CHAPTER 21 - ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENTS

NRS 21.690 Property exempt from execution.

The following property is exempt from execution, except as otherwise specifically provided in this section
or required by federal law:

(a) Private blumies, works of set, musical instruments and jewelry not to exceed \$5,000 in value, belonging to the judgment debtor or a dependent of the judgment debtor, to be selected by the judgment debtor, and all family pictures and becoming.

(b) Necessary household goods, famishings, electronics, wearing apparel, other personal effects and yard equipment, not to exceed \$12,000 in value, belonging to the judgment debtor, to be selected by the judgment debtor.

(c) Fann tracks, farm stock, farm tools, farm equipment, supplies and seed not to exceed \$4,500 in value, belonging to the judgment debtor to be selected by the judgment debtor.

(d) Professional Shuaries, equipment, supplies, and the tools, inventory, instruments and materials used to carry on the trade or business of the judgment debtor for the support of the judgment debtor and his or her family not to carried \$10,000 in value.

(c) The cabin or dwelling of a miner or prospector, the miner's or prospector's cars, implements and appliances necessary for carrying on any mining operations and the mining claim actually worked by the miner or prospector, not exceeding \$4,500 in total value.

(f) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (p), one vehicle if the judgment debtor's equity does not exceed \$15,000 or the creditor is paid an amount equal to any excess above that equity.

(g) For any workweek, 75 percent of the disposable earnings of a judgment debtor during that week, or 50 times the minimum hourly wage prescribed by section 6(a)(1) of the federal Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, 29 U.S.C. § 206(a)(1), and in effect at the time the earnings are payable, whichever is greater. Except as otherwise provided in paragraphs (o), (s) and (i), the exemption provided in this paragraph does not apply in the case of any order of a court of competent jurisdiction for the support of any person, any order of a court of bankruptcy or of any debt due for any state or federal tax. As used in this paragraph:

(1) "Disposable earnings" means that part of the earnings of a judgment debtor remaining after the deduction from those earnings of any amounts required by law to be withheld.

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