IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ERNEST A. BECKER, IV,	
INDIVIDUALLY, ERNEST A. BECKER,) Electronically Filed
IV AND KATHLEEN BECKER AS) Dec 17 2014 12:52 p.m.
TRUSTEES OF THE ERNEST A.) Tracie K. Lindeman
BECKER IV and KATHLEEN C.) No. 65335 Clerk of Supreme Court
BECKER FAMILY TRUST; EB FAMILY	
HOLDINGS, LLC; KIMBERLY RIGGS;)
SALLIE BECKER; BRIAN BECKER;)
AND WILLIAM A. LEONARD,)On Certification from United States
TRUSTEE,)Bankruptcy Court for the District of
)Nevada
Appellants,)Case No. BK-S-13-14932 BTB
)
vs.)
)
ERNEST AUGUST BECKER, V,	
)
Respondent.)
)

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Attorneys for Respondent Ernest August Becker, V.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Exemptions provided by Nevada law are to be liberally construed. This has consistently been the interpretation given Nevada's statutes by the bankruptcy courts. See, e.g., *In re Norris*, 203 B.R. 463 (Bankr. D. Nev. 1996).

NRS 21.090-1(bb) exempts Debtor's stock from all creditor claims and judgments. NRS 78.746-2(c) provides the criteria to be used to determine which stock is exempt and which is not. Once stock is determined to be exempt the entire interests of a stockholder in that stock, both economic and non-economic, are exempt. <u>3/</u>

<u>3/</u> The stock owned by the Debtor is in corporations with fewer than 100 stockholders and which are not publicly traded corporations or subsidiaries thereof, in whole or in part, and are not professional corporations as defined in NRS 89.020. Debtor submits the Objecting Parties agree. (See Appellants' Opening Brief, p. 12, fn. 18 and JA33, lines 4-5.) And, in any event, Debtor's bankruptcy schedules, by claiming exemption for such stock, in effect make such representations. Thus, Debtor submits his stock ownership interests under review in the case at bar meet the definitional criteria for exemption described in NRS 78.746-2(c), as incorporated by NRS 21.090-1(bb). All future references in Debtor's chaving these characteristics.

NRS 21.090-1(bb) provides exemption for stock as follows:

Stock in a corporation <u>described</u> in subsection 2 of NRS 78.746 except as set forth in that section. (Emphasis supplied.)

The cross-reference from exemption provision NRS 21.090-1(bb) to NRS 78.746-2 is to incorporate the criteria provided by NRS 78.746-2(c) to be used to describe stock qualifying for exemption. The most logical interpretation of that crossreference is that it specifically limits that incorporation to be for exemption description purposes only.

The Objecting Parties contend that in all events, whether stock is exempt or not, the economic rights in that stock can be reached by a debtor's judgment creditor through the use of a charging order. Debtor disagrees and submits that once it has been determined that stock satisfies the exemption criteria of NRS 78.746-2(c), all rights in that stock, economic or otherwise, are free from creditor taking and the stock is 100 per cent exempt. Debtor submits as his stock is fully exempt from execution under NRS 21.090-1(bb), his creditors cannot reach any rights, economic or otherwise, in that stock through the use of a charging order.

ARGUMENT

I. EXEMPTIONS ARE TO BE LIBERALLY CONSTRUED

Sections 522(b)(1) and (3) of the United States Bankruptcy Code permit a debtor to claim exemption for property included in his bankruptcy estate that is otherwise exempt from execution by creditors under the law of the state where the debtor resides. <u>4/</u> As this Court well knows, exemptions are to be liberally and beneficially construed in favor of those who claim them. See, e.g., *In re Norris*, supra, at 465 and cases cited. Exemptions exist to preserve a debtor's property for the benefit of the debtor and his family. *In re Norris, ibid.* Thus, Debtor submits if there is any doubt as to whether his interpretation of NRS 21.090-1(bb) or that of the Objecting Parties should control, the Debtor should prevail.

II. NEVADA STATUTES EXEMPT FROM EXECUTION ALL OF THE DEBTOR'S INTERESTS IN THE STOCK OF ENSWORTH APTS., INC. AND EAGLE ROCK GAMING, INC.

What stock is exempt? NRS 21.090-1(bb) provides exemption for "Stock in a corporation **described** in subsection 2 of N.R.S. 78.746 except as set forth in that section." (Emphasis supplied.)

4/ See Addendum To Appellants' Opening Brief, 000001- 000002.

Objecting Parties have argued the words " except as set forth in that section" mean except as set forth in all of Section 78.746 so that the charging order remedy remains available against Debtor's stocks. (See , e.g., Appellants' Opening Brief, pp. 4 and 12). Debtor submits the reference in NRS 21.090-1(bb) to NRS 78.746-2 is for descriptive, defining purposes only, incorporating in NRS 21.090-1(bb) only the corporate criteria provided in NRS 78.746-2(c) so as to describe the particular corporate stock that is exempt from creditor claims. The reference is not a remedy reference, is not meant to bring the charging order remedy of NRS 78.746-1 into play to limit the exemption otherwise provided by NRS 21.090-1(bb). As Debtor submits the language of NRS 21.090-1(bb) refers to NRS 78.746 for descriptive purposes only, the more reasonable interpretation of the "except as set forth in that section" clause is to limit it to being a defining reference only, to determine which stock is exempt and which is not, and not an interpretation that includes all of the terms of the balance of NRS 78.746. If the NRS 21.090-1(bb) cross-reference is for descriptive purposes as stated, the reference over can only be to the stock that is being described in NRS 78.746-2(c) and not to all of NRS 78.746. Debtor submits where the statute refers to "except as set forth in that section" it is referring to stock that is "except[ed]" from qualifying for exemption, it is not referring to the balance of NRS 78.746 as a whole. Debtor

does not "ignore" the last seven words of NRS 21.090-1(bb) as he has been accused of doing by Objecting Parties. (See Appellants' Opening Brief, p. 4.) And Debtor agrees Nevada Supreme Court precedent "requires that all language in a statute by given meaning." (See Appellants' Opening Brief, p. 4 and cases cited.) He just disagrees with the interpretation and meaning given to all of those words by the Objecting Parties .

Of additional importance is NRS 78.746-2(b). This section exists independent of NRS 21.090-1 and provides:

"2...., this section:

*

(b) Does not deprive any stockholder of the benefit of any exemption applicable to the stockholder's stock."

If the Objecting Parties' interpretation of NRS 21.090-1(bb) and NRS 78.746-2(c) is correct, how can it be held that NRS 78.746 as a whole or even NRS 78.746-1 by itself would not deny the Debtor the exemption given him by NRS 21.090-1(bb)? Debtor submits this Court should not so hold. If the charging order remedy of NRS 78.746-1 applies to Debtor's stocks, surely he will be deprived of part of the exemption given him by NRS 21.090-1(bb). His exemption in that stock will be diminished, it will be lessened , and that is what NRS 78.746-2(b) is clearly meant to prohibit.

Objecting Parties cite In re Foos, 405 B.R. 604 (Bankr. N.D. Ohio 2009) to support the argument "that NRS 78.746 does not prohibit charging orders on stock in closely held corporations," stating "the court held that the Debtor's economic interest was not exempt under a statutory scheme similar to Nevada's, which has a provision nearly identical to NRS 78.746(2)(b)." (Objecting Parties' Opening Brief, p. 5.) The Debtor disagrees as the Ohio and Nevada statutes involved, because of the breadth of the exemption provided by NRS 21.090-1(bb) for stock of the description owned by Debtor, are not "nearly identical" to one another. In addition, Debtor submits the focus of the Foos court would have been very different had it been dealing with an entity that was fully protected from creditor claims by exemption and even though it would have had only one owner. However, the Foos court dealt with a 1/10th interest in a partnership that was found not to be fully exempt because of the less than 100 per cent ownership involved. For these reasons, Debtor submits the Foos decision is of very little precedential value, if any, to the case at bar.

The *Foos* court found "the Debtor's position, for the exemption of his entire partnership interest, . . . [did not rely] on any specific statutory directive." *Ibid,* at 609. The exact opposite is true in the case at bar. Debtor's position is based on a specific statutory exemption directive, NRS 21.090-1(bb),

incorporating by reference only the corporate criteria, the descriptive parameters, of NRS 78.746-2(c), which include a corporation with fewer than 100 stockholders and most importantly, a corporation which has only one stockholder.

NRS 21.090-1(bb) was specifically created to provide an exemption where none had existed before. 5/ Interestingly, this exemption was provided by the legislature in the same year, 2007, that the charging order remedy was first added to the Nevada Revised Statutes. 6/ The breadth of the exemption was soon after expanded to include stock of a corporation with less than 100 stockholders and specifically included a corporation all of which was owned by one stockholder. 7/The Ohio statutes referenced in *Foos* did not deal with an entity that could have one owner. That is most important because the essence of *Foos* is it dealt with a multi-member entity and the Bankruptcy Court's perceived need to protect the existence of that entity for non-debtor owners. *In re Foos, supra* at 609-610. The Ohio court was concerned with having to protect the interests of entity owners

^{5/} See Addendum To Appellant's Opening Brief, 000084, 000091 and 000094, identifying as NRS 21.090-1(y) what is now NRS 21.090-1(bb).

<u>6/</u> See Addendum To Appellant's Opening Brief, 000084 - 000085, lines 3-8.
<u>7/</u> See Addendum To Appellants' Opening Brief, 000023.

other than a debtor in bankruptcy and found that so long as the partnership entity there at issue would not be destroyed by giving relief to a creditor of the debtorpartner, the charging order remedy would be available. *In re Foos, ibid.* The Nevada statutes go much further and provide a "specific statutory directive" to protect even a sole stockholder's entire interest and not just those of other stockholders in the case of a multi-stockholder ownership situation.

Debtor's position does not suffer from the same "fundamental flaw" suffered by Foos because there is no risk under Nevada law of having to dissolve a corporate entity and thereby leave other stockholders at risk where a debtor would be the sole stockholder of a corporation. *In re Foos, supra,* at 609 . The Nevada corporation will remain in place and the stock will be completely exempt.

Neither is there a need "to strike a balance between protecting the rights of a debtor- . . . [stockholder's] creditors, with the need to also protect the . . . [corporate entity]" as the NRS 21.090-1(bb) exemption protects the entire corporate entity and its stock by fully exempting the stock of the less than 100 stockholder or sole-stockholder corporation, by providing an exemption in the qualifying stock for all of the interests in the individual shares themselves. *Cf. In re Foos, supra,* at 610.

Given the decision of the Nevada legislature to exempt the stock of

corporations having fewer than 100 stockholders, specifically including a singlestockholder corporation, Debtor submits it would be accurate to rephrase the *Foos* court's decision to state, and for the Nevada Supreme Court to adopt as its conclusion, that,

> "carried to its logical conclusion, the Debtor's position would [properly] allow persons, by simply transferring their property to a . . . [qualifying corporate] entity, to easily place their assets beyond the reach of their creditors. The Court is . . . willing to countenance such a fundamental shift in the law given the . . . [existence] of the express statutory language [in NRS 21.090-1(bb)] exhibiting an intent to effectuate such a change" to exempt all of the stock of a qualifying corporation. Cf. *In re Foos, supra,* at 610.

That is exactly what Nevada Revised Statutes exemptions do. Other than for exemptions measured by specific dollar amounts, see, e.g., NRS 21.090-1((f) providing an exemption for \$15,000.00 of vehicle equity, exemptions completely insulate property from judgment creditor claims. See, e.g., NRS 21.090-1(y), providing an exemption for all Social Security benefits, regardless of amount.

Objecting Parties cite *Weddell v. H2O, Inc.,* 127 P. 3d 743 (Nev. 2012), in support of their argument that "Debtor's claimed exemption of his entire interest (both economic and non-economic) in the . . . [stocks] is . . . overly-broad" (Objecting Parties' Opening Brief, p. 4; also see pp. 12-13.). Debtor submits that decision is inapposite to the case at bar because it was not a bankruptcy case

dealing with the nature of exempt assets for bankruptcy purposes and that decision assumed the remedy of a charging order could in all events be an appropriate one in regard to any limited liability companies. NRS Section 86.401, in dealing with limited liability companies, does not provide any qualifying descriptors that either do or do not limit the application of its provisions to any particular limited liability company - all limited liability companies "may" be subject to it. The same cannot be said of NRS Section 78.746-2 which provides descriptors of exempt stock. Any attempt to rely on *Weddell* to explain the scope of a charging order as applied to an asset that is or could be exempt for bankruptcy purposes is misplaced. In any event, Debtor submits this Court need not reach the charging order question as the Debtor's stocks are initially fully exempt.

Although the potential exists to find the scope of the charging order remedy under all NRS provisions to be the same, it is not a given that NRS 78.746-1 applies to all corporate stock whereas NRS 86.401-1 certainly "may" apply to all limited liability companies, regardless of the number of members or any other qualifying descriptors. And that is what distinguishes those statutes from each other, at least as far as their initial application of the charging order remedy is relevant. A limited liability company membership interest is not exempt under NRS 21.090-1 and, therefore, at a minimum, must run the gauntlet of NRS 86.401.

The same cannot be said for corporate stock interests and NRS 78.746-1.

The *Weddell* decision dealt with the application of Nevada's limited liability statute to the interest in a limited liability company. There is no Nevada Revised Statute exemption for an interest in limited liability companies. Therefore, the decision of Court in <u>Weddell</u> could not have reflected what that Court could have thought had it been dealing with assets that could have been exempt.

Objecting Parties also cite *Renteria v. Canepa*, 2013 WL 3155348, at *2 (D. Nev. 2013), as a case allowing a charging order to be applied to corporate stock. (See Objecting Parties' Opening Brief, pp. 13-14.) This decision is clearly distinguishable from the case at bar as it was not a bankruptcy case and it did not involve any claim of exemption for stock pursuant to NRS 21.090-1(bb). In fact, the Court was careful to point out the owner of the stock was not himself in bankruptcy.

III. THE CHARGING ORDER REMEDY OF NRS 78.746-1 IS NOT AVAILABLE TO CREDITORS OF THE DEBTORS SO AS TO ALLOW THEM TO SATISFY A JUDGMENT AGAINST THE DEBTOR OR A DEBT OF THE DEBTOR OUT OF STOCKS EXEMPTED FROM EXECUTION BY NRS 21.090-1(bb) AND OWNED BY HIM.

The case at bar is about an exemption, not a remedy. The scope of the relief afforded a judgment creditor by a charging order authorized by NRS 78.746-1 is not at issue. The statute is clear as to what the relief is when the remedy is

available. <u>8/</u> Even when the charging order provision is applicable, whether it will be made available to a judgment creditor remains within the Court's discretion. <u>9/</u>

Objecting Parties' discussion of the legislative history of the charging order as applied to corporations, although it may be accurate as far as it goes, does not reveal there was any mention of the corporate stock exemption provided by NRS 21.090-1(bb) and its relationship to NRS 78.746. (Objecting Parties' Opening Brief, pages 6-9.) However, Debtor's reading of that legislative history and a recognition of the substantive difference between the exact words used by the legislature in 2005 and 2007 provides significant support for Debtor's interpretation of NRS 21.090-1(bb) and its cross-reference to NRS 78.746-2.

In 2005 an attempt was made to make the charging order remedy applicable to NRS Chapter 78 and have it apply to corporations having more than 1 but fewer than 75 stockholders. (Nev. S.B. 453 (Second Reprint) at Addendum of Respondent 000042, lines 1-6 and 000043, lines 1-4.) This bill would also have

<u>8/</u> See NRS 78.746-1; also see NRS 86.401-1 (limited-liability companies); NRS 87.280-1 (partnerships); NRS 87.4342 (partnerships); NRS 87A.480-1 (limited partnerships); NRS 88.535-1 (partnerships) regarding other entity forms.

<u>9/</u> N.R.S. 78.746-1 states "On application to a court of competent jurisdiction by any judgment creditor of a stockholder, the court <u>may</u> charge the stockholder's stock (Emphasis supplied.)

amended NRS 21.090-1 to add subsection "(x)" providing an exemption for "Stock of certain corporations, <u>subject to the provisions</u> of section 1 of this act," section 1 being the amendment to NRS Chapter 78 for corporations. (Nev. S.B. 453 (Second Reprint) at Addendum of Respondent 000049, lines 44-45.) (Emphasis supplied.) This bill failed to pass.

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